
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tuesday, 8 June 2021 
12.00 pm 
 
 
 
 
 

Online via Teams 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

  

 



 

 

 
Children & Young People Board 
8 June 2021 

 

There will be a meeting of the Children & Young People Board at 12.00 pm on Tuesday, 8 June 
2021 Online via Teams. 
 

Political Group meetings: 
The group meetings will take place prior to the meeting.  Please contact your political group as 
outlined below for further details. 
 

Apologies: 
Please notify your political group office (see contact telephone numbers below) if you are unable to 
attend this meeting. 
 
Conservative: Group Office: 020 7664 3223     email:     lgaconservatives@local.gov.uk   
Labour:  Group Office: 020 7664 3263     email:     labour.grouplga@local.gov.uk 
Independent:  Group Office: 020 7664 3224     email:     independent.grouplga@local.gov.uk   
Liberal Democrat: Group Office: 020 7664 3235     email:     libdem@local.gov.uk 
 

Location:  
A map showing the location of 18 Smith Square is printed on the back cover.   
 

LGA Contact:  
Richard Kember 
07786 542 754 / richard.kember@local.gov.uk 
 

Carers’ Allowance  
As part of the LGA Members’ Allowances Scheme a Carer’s Allowance of £9.00 per hour or £10.55  
if receiving London living wage is available to cover the cost of dependants (i.e. children, elderly 
people or people with disabilities) incurred as a result of attending this meeting. 
 

Social Media 
The LGA is committed to using social media in a co-ordinated and sensible way, as part of a 
strategic approach to communications, to help enhance the reputation of local government, 
improvement engagement with different elements of the community and drive efficiency. Please feel 
free to use social media during this meeting. However, you are requested not to use social media 
during any confidential items. 
 

The twitter hashtag for this meeting is #lgacyp 
 

mailto:lgaconservatives@local.gov.uk
mailto:labour.grouplga@local.gov.uk
mailto:independent.grouplga@local.gov.uk
mailto:libdem@local.gov.uk


 

 

 

 
 

Children & Young People Board – Membership 2020/21 
 
Councillor Authority 

  
Conservative ( 7)  
Cllr Teresa Heritage (Vice 
Chairman) 

Hertfordshire County Council 

Cllr Patricia Bradwell OBE Lincolnshire County Council 

Cllr Matthew Golby West Northamptonshire Council 
Cllr Roger Gough Kent County Council 

Cllr Laura Mayes Wiltshire Council 
Vacancy Conservative Group 

Vacancy Conservative Group 
  

Substitutes  
Cllr Warren Whyte Buckinghamshire County Council 

Cllr James Hockney Enfield Council 
Cllr Mark Sutton Staffordshire County Council 

  
Labour ( 7)  

Cllr Anntoinette Bramble (Chair) Hackney London Borough Council 
Cllr Rachel Eden Reading Borough Council 

Cllr Alisa Flemming Croydon Council 
Cllr Sara Rowbotham Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council 

Cllr James Beckles Newham London Borough Council 
Cllr Imran Khan Bradford Metropolitan District Council 
Vacancy Labour Group 

  
Substitutes  

Cllr Helen Godwin Bristol City Council 
Cllr Eamonn O'Brien Bury Metropolitan Borough Council 

Cllr Mili Patel Brent Council 
  

Liberal Democrat ( 2)  

Cllr Lucy Nethsingha (Deputy 
Chair) 

Cambridgeshire County Council 

Cllr Mark Cory Colchester Borough Council 
  

Substitutes  

Cllr Nick Cott Newcastle upon Tyne City Council 

  
Independent ( 2)  

Cllr Julie Fallon (Deputy Chair) Conwy County Borough Council 
Cllr Judy Jennings Epping Forest District Council 

  
Substitutes  

Cllr Charlie Hull South Somerset District Council 

Cllr Kevin Etheridge Caerphilly County Borough Council 

Cllr Julian Dean Shropshire Council 



 

 

 
 

Agenda 
 

Children & Young People Board 
 
Tuesday 8 June 2021 
 
12.00 pm 
 
Online via Teams 
 

 
 

 Item Page  
 

1.   Welcome, Apologies & Declarations of Interest 
 

  

2.   Note of the Previous Meeting on 16th March 2021 
 

1 - 8  

3.   Children & Young People Board Priorities 
 

9 - 12  

4.   Presentation on Hackney's Diverse Curriculum 
 

  

5.   The Early Years Healthy Development Review 
 

13 - 18  

6.   Youth Participation & Skills Update 
Confidential 
 

19 - 42  

7.   Presentation from the Children's Commissioner 
 

43 - 46  

 
 
 Date of Next Meeting: Tuesday, 14 September 2021, 12.00 pm, Smith 

Square 1&2, Ground Floor, 18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ 
 



 

 

 
 

 
 

                                                                          

Note of last Children & Young People Board meeting 
 

Title: 
 

Children & Young People Board 

Date: 
 

Tuesday 16 March 2021 

Venue: Online via Teams 
  

 
Attendance 
An attendance list is attached as Appendix A to this note 

 
 

Item Decisions and actions  
 

1   Welcome, Apologies & Declarations of Interest 
  

 

 The Chair welcomed members and stated that this was her last meeting 
before moving on to take up a seat in the House of Lords. She thanked 
members for their support and contributions over the last year. Members 
in turn, thanked the Chair for her work with the Board and wished her well 
for the future. 
 
Apologies were received from Cllr Warren Whyte, Cllr Lucy Nethsinga and 
Dr Phil Norrey. 
 
Cllr Mark Cory declared an interest in item 3 as a member of the National 
Education Union. 
 

 

2   Presentation from Chair of the Independent Children's Social Care 
Review 
  

 

 The Chair welcomed Josh MacAlister, Chair of the Independent Review of 
Childrens’ Social Care, to the meeting and invited him to present to the 
Board. 
 
Josh outlined the work that had been taking place in the early stages of 
the review and said that whilst he wanted to take the time to carry out a 
broad piece of work that was able to examine some of the fundamental 
questions, there were also some urgent issues that needed addressing 
more quickly. The aim was therefore to complete the review within 12-15 
months. 
 
Josh reported that the fundamental question that the Review would seek 
to address had now been agreed: “How do we ensure children grow up in 
loving, stable and safe families and, where that is not possible, care 
provides the same foundations?” 
 
The first 3 months of the review would be a problem analysis of the 
current system and the remainder would be forward looking to identify 
possible solutions. The underlying philosophy behind the Review would be 
to listen deeply to those who had received social care and to think boldly 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 

 

 
 

 

about how social care could be delivered more effectively in the future. 
 
The Chair then invited members to comment on the Review and for Josh 
to respond in turn: 

 Early intervention, particularly by voluntary sector organisations, 
had in some instances been effective in slowing down the flow of 
young people entering the system. However, the 0-5 age group in 
particular was identified as a gap in provision. Josh said that early 
intervention would be a key part of the Review and that he would 
be looking for examples of where organisations had worked 
effectively with families. 

 The focus for social workers was generally on the child rather than 
the needs of the whole family. How could this be addressed? Josh 
said that this was a very complex area but would be addressed in 
the Review. 

 Would the review look at the needs of children and young people 
in custody and also those taken into care for their own safety? 
Josh said that these instances reflected a wider longer-term trend 
in this country of services not knowing how to effectively help 
teenagers and their families. This certainly needed to be looked at 
again. 

 Members considered that it was vital to involve the wider workforce 
in the Review as there were fundamental issues with pay, training, 
staff turnover and job recognition that impacted on the quality of 
service provision. Josh agreed that this was crucial and said that 
plans to involve professionals in the Review would be shared in the 
next couple of weeks. 

 Was the Troubled Families Programme within the scope of the 
Review? Josh confirmed that it was. 

 How would the Government’s commitment to expand family hubs 
tie in with the Review? The example of Bristol was given where 
family hubs had been very successful, and had proved to be a 
lifeline for some families during the pandemic. Josh said that there 
were key links here and he was working closely with the 
Government to ensure alignment. 

 Members were very supportive of including the word ‘love’ in the 
Review’s overarching question. 

 Proper funding of the system was considered to be vital in moving 
away from a crisis management approach. Josh agreed that 
funding was always important but that in order to convince the 
Treasury, the Review would need to provide hard evidence of the 
effectiveness of investment in early intervention. 

 Members felt that health services should be more involved in 
children’s social care, particularly in the 0-5 age group. 

 Community mentoring schemes were considered important for 
reaching BAME children and young people as they could be more 
reluctant to engage with statutory services. 

 The Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) review into the 
market for children’s social care provision was welcomed. 

 The role of the family courts was considered to be very important. 
Josh confirmed that this was part of the Review and he had 
already started discussions with stakeholders. 

 The binary nature of either being in care or with the family was 
considered to be too simplistic. Finland was cited as an example of 

Page 2

Agenda Item 2



 

 

 
 

 

a country using a more nuanced approach. The Family Links 
programme was also praised for the good work it did. Josh agreed 
that it was vital to maintain family links as much as possible and 
said he was keen to explore this further. 

 Members felt that the practice of out of area placements needed to 
be examined as part of the review as children were often placed in 
unsuitable areas. Josh confirmed that this was definitely in scope 
and would also form part of the CMA review. 

 The Croydon Vulnerable Adolescent Review was highlighted as an 
important piece of work which should be taken into account. 

 How could the authorities work better with families who had a long-
term involvement in the system? Josh said that agencies often 
needed to think and plan longer-term rather than addressing the 
symptoms of problems in the short-term. 

 The issue of transitioning into adulthood was raised and there was 
often a cliff-edge of support when young people reached 18. Josh 
said that extending the age range for CAMHS services to 25 was 
positive and could open up possibilities for other services to do 
similar. 

 Recruitment of quality foster carers was considered to be important 
and the transformative effect that they often had on life chances 
should be emphasised as a positive option for young people. Josh 
agreed that care could be a good option for young people but there 
were also concerning long-term negative health trends associated 
with separating children from their families. 

 Would the Review be learning from European and wider 
international good practice? Josh said that there were lots of 
differences in the systems across Europe and they were very keen 
to hear from members of any specific examples of good practice 
that they could look into. 

 The needs of different sized local authorities should be included as 
part of the Review. Josh agreed that implementation of any 
reforms would need to work for local authorities of all sizes. 

 
The Chair thanked Josh for his time and for answering all the points raised 
by members. She raised the possibility of him returning to a future Board 
meeting as the Review progressed. 
 
Decision: 
Children & Young People Board noted the presentation. 
 

3   Education Recovery Programme 
  

 

 The Chair welcomed Sir Alan Wood, adviser to the Government’s 
Education Recovery Programme, to the meeting and invited him to 
present to the Board. 
 
Sir Alan ran through the background to the programme and explained that 
Sir Kevan Collins, the Education Recovery Commissioner, reported 
weekly to the Prime Minister and the Secretary of State to advise them on 
the effectiveness of the Department for Education’s (DfE) plans. The 
Programme had 3 objectives: (i) to ensure that children were supported to 
raise their attainment; (ii) to close the gap between the highest and lowest 
performing pupils; and (iii) to support the services that support children’s 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 

 

 
 

 

learning. In order to achieve these objectives, the following areas of focus 
(the 3 ‘T’s) were being pursued: (i) access to teacher time; (ii) ensuring the 
quality of teaching through professional development and training; and (iii) 
a targeted tutoring programme. 
 
Sir Alan said that the Programme aimed to build an education system that 
was stronger and fairer than pre-covid. Schools would clearly be the main 
driver of change but they were also looking at how local authorities could 
work with wider groups of partners to achieve the desired objectives. They 
would also be looking at how best to reach children not in school settings, 
including pre-school. 
 
Sir Alan advised members that the Programme would have significant 
resource implications and they were talking to the Prime Minister and 
Secretary of State about this. For example, it was clear that the current 
targets in the National Tutoring Programme would not be achieved with 
current resource levels. 
 
Following the introduction, the Chair invited members to comment: 

 Members raised concerns about various aspects of the National 
Tutoring Programme (NTP) – for example around levels of take up 
and quality of tutoring. Members felt that locally-determined 
approaches could often be more effective and the LGA could feed 
in some best practice examples of these. Sir Alan acknowledged 
that there were challenges with the NTP and that it was hoped to 
address some of these as it moved to phase 3. He agreed that 
there needed to be less prescription and more local flexibility and 
they would be talking to local authorities and school groupings to 
determine their needs. Sir Alan said they were open to new ideas 
and offered to talk to headteachers in Board members’ local areas 
to discuss how the NTP could be improved 

 Would the Programme be looking at whether Ofsted could be 
reformed to better support education recovery? Sir Alan said that 
this was outside the scope of the Programme but, given that it 
would not be possible to inspect all schools individually in the 
timeframe, there may be scope for undertaking thematic reviews. 

 What was being done on career-related learning to address 
growing anxiety amongst teenagers? Sir Alan said that they 
weren’t taking any specific steps at this stage but DfE were 
working on it at both 16-19 and under 16 level. 

 Members felt that there was too much emphasis on academic 
catch-up in the current plans which would put too much pressure 
on many young people. There needed to be greater emphasis on 
their mental and emotional wellbeing and on giving them 
opportunities to socialise with their peers again. Play Streets and 
Forest Schools were suggested as examples of how this could be 
achieved. Sir Alan agreed that the approach needed to strike a 
balance and said that any additional summer activities needed to 
be a broad academic/cultural/recreational experience. 

 Improving the physical and mental health of young people was 
considered to be key and this would need to involve training 
professionals to recognise these issues and to address them. 
Links should be made into Higher Education, Further Education 
and employers. 

 How could parents be more effectively engaged in the catch-up 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



 

 

 
 

 

process – this would be crucial to its success, particularly for more 
vulnerable children. 

 It was felt that now would be a good time to assess the things that 
had dropped off the curriculum, and services that had been lost in 
recent years, and to consider reinstating some of them. 

 It was considered important to listen to what young people 
themselves were saying. There may be a number of positive 
aspects of lockdown for children that could be built into future 
learning. 

 Teaching staff had been under a lot of pressure during the last 
year and so members felt it was important that catch up 
programmes took account of that and didn’t lead to burn out. 
School governors could also have an important role to play. 

 
Sir Alan said that an announcement on further funding was expected from 
the Government in the next couple of weeks, when further details of the 
Programme would also be revealed. 
 
The Chair thanked Sir Alan for his time and urged him to continue to use 
Board members as a resource and sounding board for the Programme’s 
work. 
 
Decision 
Children & Young People Board noted the update. 
 

4   Children's Food and Wellbeing in the Context of the Social and 
Economic Recovery. 
  

 

 The Chair invited Rose Doran, Senior Adviser LGA, to introduce the 
report. 
 
Rose updated members on Government initiatives to improve access to 
affordable and nutritious food for disadvantaged children during the course 
of the pandemic. She also highlighted good local practice and the LGA’s 
work in this area. In particular, she highlighted the Holiday Activity and 
Food (HAF) programme which the Government had now extended to 
cover Easter, Summer and Christmas holidays in 2021. Links to the 
Reshaping Financial Support programme, being led by the Resources 
Board, were also flagged up. 
 
She invited members’ views on the suggestion that the CYP Board lead 
on a cross-cutting programme of work in the LGA to explore the role of 
food in improving outcomes for disadvantaged children, with particular 
reference to the Covid recovery. 
 
In the subsequent discussion, members raised the following points: 

 Members agreed that the Board should lead on a new piece of 
work across the LGA focussing on how addressing the structural 
issues that caused food poverty could contribute to the economic 
and social recovery from Covid. Covid had exposed deep 
inequalities in society and lack of resilience in more deprived 
communities. 

 Members gave examples of how their councils were engaging with 
the HAF programme and concern was expressed about a potential 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

 

 
 

 

funding cliff edge at the end of 2021 and the fact that money 
couldn’t be used during school half-terms. Rose reassured 
members that talks were taking place with Government about 
using the money more flexibly. 

 The current focus on food was considered to be an ideal 
opportunity to think about it more holistically, in particular through 
education in growing and cookery. 

 
Decision 
Children & Young People Board noted the report and agreed that officers 
should scope a wider piece of work on the issues raised and bring it back 
to the next Board meeting. 
 

5   Note of the Previous Meeting on 12th January 2021 
  

 

 Members sought clarification and further information on the next steps 
following the vote at the previous meeting on raising the age of criminal 
responsibility. In view of the time, officers agreed to e-mail Board 
members with an update. 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 12 January 2021 were then agreed as 
an accurate record. 
 

 

 
Appendix A -Attendance  

 
Position/Role Councillor Authority 
   
Chair Cllr Judith Blake CBE Leeds City Council 
Vice-Chairman Cllr Teresa Heritage Hertfordshire County Council 
Deputy-Chair Cllr Julie Fallon Conwy County Borough Council 

 
Members Cllr Patricia Bradwell OBE Lincolnshire County Council 
 Cllr Susie Charles Lancashire County Council 
 Cllr Matthew Golby Northamptonshire County Council 
 Cllr Roger Gough Kent County Council 
 Cllr Dick Madden Essex County Council 
 Cllr Laura Mayes Wiltshire Council 
 Cllr Rachel Eden Reading Borough Council 
 Cllr Alisa Flemming Croydon Council 
 Cllr Sara Rowbotham Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council 
 Cllr James Beckles Newham London Borough Council 
 Cllr Imran Khan Bradford Metropolitan District Council 
 Cllr Lesley Williams MBE Gloucestershire County Council 
 Cllr Mark Cory Colchester Borough Council 
 Cllr Judy Jennings Epping Forest District Council 

 
Apologies Cllr Lucy Nethsingha Cambridgeshire County Council 
 Dr Phil Norrey Devon County Council 
 Cllr Warren Whyte Buckinghamshire County Council 

 
In Attendance Cllr Helen Godwin Bristol City Council 
 Cllr Mili Patel Brent Council 
 Cllr Charlie Hull South Somerset District Council 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



 

 

 
 

 

 Josh MacAlister For item 2 
 Sir Alan Wood For item 3 
 Jessica Hill Local Government Chronicle 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2





 

 

LGA Children & Young People Board 

8 June 2021 

 

 

 
 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Children & Young People Board Priorities 2021/22 

 

Purpose of report 

For discussion and direction 

Summary 

This report suggests future priorities for the Children and Young People Board, for 

discussion ahead of the 2021/22 meeting cycle. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact officer:  Ian Keating 

Position:   Principal Policy Adviser 

Phone no:   0207 664 3032  

Email:    ian.keating@local.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation/s 

That the Board note this set of priorities. 
 

Action/s 

Officers to proceed as directed. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

 

LGA Children & Young People Board 

8 June 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

Children & Young People Board Priorities 2021/22 

Background 

1. The purpose of the Children and Young People Board is to engage with and develop a 

thorough understanding of the issues within its brief and how legislation does or could 

affect councils and their communities. The Board’s brief is to provide strategic oversight of 

all the LGA’s policy and improvement activity in relation to the wellbeing of children and 

young people, including education and social care.  

 
2. Members are asked to consider possible areas of work for 2021/22. Based on member’s 

feedback meeting, a more detailed report will be brought to the first Board meeting of the 
new cycle on 14 September outlining specific work programmes for 2021/22. 

 

Education and SEND 

3. The Government has appointed Sir Kevan Collins, former Chief Executive of the Education 

Endowment Foundation and Director of Children’s Services and Chief Executive of Tower 

Hamlets councils, has been appointed to “oversee a comprehensive programme of catch-

up aimed at young people who have lost out on learning due to the pandemic”. 

 

4. It is clear that education recovery must be a long-term endeavour and go beyond academic 

achievement to include measures to support children and young people’s socialisation, 

communication and mental health and well-being. While recovery support should be made 

available to all children and young people, it is vital that vulnerable children, who have 

been disproportionately impacted by the pandemic, are the focus of this programme of 

work. Councils are ideally placed to act as convenors of local education systems, bringing 

education providers and other partners together to implement a national education 

recovery programme. 

 

5. The Government’s on-going review of the SEND system must ensure that councils have 

the powers and funding to act as local leaders of SEND systems, allowing them to hold 

partners to account for the support they provide to children and young people with SEND. 

This should include the opportunity to consider new ways of working that have been 

emerged as a result of the lockdown and that have benefited children and young people 

with special needs. 

Children’s social care 

6. The Government has now launched its Independent Review of Children’s Social Care. The 

LGA is represented on the Design Group which is advising the review, and will continue to 

influence through that group and responses to calls for evidence. We have called for the 

review to consider early help for children and families alongside how we support children in 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



 

 

LGA Children & Young People Board 

8 June 2021 

 

 

 

 

care, and to look at the funding available to provide the services that children, young 

people and their families need to thrive. 

 

7. We anticipate an ongoing focus on placement sufficiency and the ‘market’ in the coming 

year. The Competition and Markets Authority is undertaking a “market study” on children’s 

placements, while a consultation was launched in May 2021 on new national standards for 

unregulated provision. The LGA will continue to work with the Government and the wider 

sector to consider how we can ensure sufficient, high quality homes for children in care that 

fully meet their needs. 

Child-centred recovery 

8. We will develop work in the coming year to support councils to put children and young 

people at the heart of recovery, in particular through sharing existing good practice where 

councils are already taking child-centred approaches and ensuring the voice of children 

and young people features in local policy development and decision-making. 

 

9. We will also seek to identify opportunities for working across the LGA policy team to ensure 

that the needs of children and young people are considered holistically in the LGA’s work. 

Early years 

10. We will continue to lobby for appropriate early years funding, especially given the impact of 

Covid-19 on provider sustainability and the need for support in the early years to mitigate 

the long term impact of Covid-19 on children’s development.   

11. We will respond to and work closely on the plans for implementation on the Early Years 

Healthy Development Review led by Andrea Leadsom, understanding and joining up the 

approach between different aspects of the local system.   

Children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing (activities sit across both 

this Board and the Community Wellbeing Board)  

12. Covid-19 has had a significant impact on the mental health and wellbeing of children and 

young people. We will continue to work with government to prioritise the wellbeing of 

children and young people in their return to school.  

 

13. The roll out of mental health support teams in schools (MHSTs), as set up in the 2017 

Green Paper, has been progressed with an intention to reach more of the country within 

the next few years. Although this is a positive step forward, there is still more that can be 

done. We will continue to look to the evidence base around community support services 

and the role of councils in supporting good emotional wellbeing in their local areas.  

 

14. We are working closely with government on the implementation of training for senior leads 

for mental health in schools.  

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



 

 

LGA Children & Young People Board 

8 June 2021 

 

 

 

 

15. There has been a range of commissioned research over the past year, looking at whole 

household approaches to mental health, transitions from children's to adults mental health 

services, and the evidence around early intervention and prevention. We will continue to 

share this good practice with councils.  

Youth Services  

16. We have submitted a response to the Department of Digital, Culture, Media and Sport 

(DCMS)’s youth services review. We will respond to the output of this to ensure that the 

vital role of councils in the provision and coordination of youth services is recognised, and 

will continue to champion the importance of youth services, particularly given the 

evidence around the importance of these services during the pandemic and to support 

recovery.  

 

17. We are anticipating the refresh of the consultation on statutory guidance on youth service 

provision and will work with partners to respond to this.  

Youth justice  

18. The Board supported a position on an increase to the minimum age of criminal 

responsibility and we will continue to lobby for this. 

  

19. We will also continue to look into what works for effective practice in the youth justice 

system and continue to lobby for the protection of the Youth Justice Grant.   

 

Financial implications 

 
20. It is expected that the work programme arising from the priorities set will be covered 

within existing budgets.     

Implications for Wales 
 
21. Education and children’s services are devolved matters. The LGA will liaise with WLGA 

on issues of common interest and concern. 
 
Next Steps 
  
22. Officers to progress as directed. 

 

 

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



 

 

LGA Children & Young People Board  

8 June 2021 

 

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Early Years Healthy Development Review 

 

Purpose of report 

For direction. 

Summary 

In March 2021 the Government published the early years review - The best start for life: a 

vision for the 1,001 critical days - setting out six key actions to improve health outcomes in 

the period between conception to two years of age. 

The review, led by Andrea Leadsom MP, is now in the implementation phase. We are keen 

to ensure this work builds on the knowledge and expertise of local government and is 

effective in supporting the most vulnerable infants and families in our communities. 

Later this month, Andrea Leadsom MP will meet with lead members from the Children and 

Young People Board and Community Wellbeing Board to discuss how to work with the 

sector to improve outcomes for 0-2 year olds.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact officer:  Vanessa Lucas  

Position:   Policy Advisor 

Phone no:   07818577947  

Email:    vanessa.lucas@local.gov.uk 

 

 

Recommendation/s 

Members are asked for their views on the key issues in improving outcomes for 0-2s. 

Members are asked to comment on the deliverability of the recommendations and any 

barriers or concerns in regard to local authority implementation.  

Members are asked to decide whether they would oppose or support a proposal to make 

0-2s healthy development support a mandated service. 

Action/s 

Officers to take action as directed by members.  

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days


 

 

LGA Children & Young People Board  

8 June 2021 

 

 

Early Years Healthy Development Review 

Background 

1. Since 2017 there has been increasing focus on the importance of the First 1,001 days in 

childhood (conception to age two) in establishing the right foundations for children and 

families to thrive. Leading child health experts agree that the care given during the first 

1,001 days can have a critical influence on the health, wellbeing and opportunity of 

children throughout life. 

 

2. The Early Years Healthy Development Review was launched in July 2020. Led by 

Andrea Leadsom MP, it aims to set out a vision for the First 1001 days of life, to 

implement best practice across the health system and improve outcomes for babies and 

infants from conception to age 2. 

 

3. In December 2021 the LGA submitted a response to the review’s call for evidence and in 

March 2021 we responded to the publication of the first set of recommendations (below). 

We welcomed the review but stressed the importance of working with local government 

to improve outcomes, build on established good practice and re-invest in public health 

and early intervention.  

 

4. The review published The best start for life: a vision for the 1,001 critical days in March 

2021, focused on 6 action areas:  

 

4.1 Seamless support for families: local authorities will be encouraged to publish a clear 

‘Start for Life’ offer for parents in their area – a single publication making parents and 

carers aware of what support they can expect in their local area, including services they 

should expect to receive like health visits, and localised and specialist services, such as 

help to quit smoking and intensive parenting support 

4.2 A welcoming hub for families: this builds on the government’s commitment to champion 

family hubs, making them a place for families to access Start for Life services, such as 

childcare, early education and healthcare, as well as advice on jobs and training 

4.3 The information families need when they need it: designing digital, virtual and 

telephone services around the needs of the family, including digitising the personal child 

health record, commonly known as the ‘red book’ 

4.4 An empowered Start for Life workforce: developing a modern skilled workforce to meet 

the changing needs of families with babies, looking at new ways to support and empower 

staff to increase retention of health visitors 

4.5 Continually improving the Start for Life offer: health services for families and babies 

must improve data, evaluation and outcomes to ensure they are meeting a family’s needs. 

Work will continue across the system to hold local services to account, including through 

proportionate inspections, giving parents and carers confidence and assurance that 

services are working in their area 

4.6 Leadership for change: work will begin to encourage local areas to nominate a leader 

and to ensure the delivery of the review is overseen at a national level 

 

Page 14

Agenda Item 5

https://www.local.gov.uk/about/news/lga-responds-early-years-healthy-development-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-best-start-for-life-a-vision-for-the-1001-critical-days


 

 

LGA Children & Young People Board  

8 June 2021 

 

 
5. In response to our submissions and engagement, the review team has asked for our 

advice and support in working with councils to further this agenda. The Board’s 

discussion today will inform our key messages ahead of the lead members meeting with 

Andrea Leadsom on 15th June.  

Summary of LGA Views submitted previously 

6. We agree that an integrated, place-based approach to service delivery is vital to 

improving outcomes in the early years. Any national strategy should enhance the 

integration work that is already taking place at local level. Councils know their 

communities best and this will help deliver streamlined and unified local services that 

place families at the centre.  

 

7. We are keen to improve joint commissioning and collaboration with our NHS partners 

across all services.  The creation of Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) provides an 

excellent opportunity to improve the health and wellbeing of children and to tackle health 

inequalities. In order to do this effectively local government leaders need to be at the 

heart of ICS leadership to ensure a joined-up approach across the wider system and 

ICSs need to prioritise the wellbeing of children and preventative health. 

  

8. Whilst we agree that the First 1001 Days (0-2) is a critical period in healthy child 

development, we will not break generational disadvantage and tackle health inequalities 

without taking a life-course and family-based approach to improving outcomes for 

disadvantaged children. We are keen not to create an additional cliff-edge or silo of 

support and would prefer to build support services around the accepted early years 

model of 0-4/5. We have called for a cross-Whitehall strategy that puts children and 

young people at the heart of recovery – this would include access to affordable housing, 

skills and employment, quality childcare and financial security. 

 

9. We have previously called for a children’s workforce strategy to support the development 

of a well-qualified, well-resourced workforce with the appropriate knowledge, skills and 

experience to work in a preventative way. This needs to be an integrated strategy 

between local authorities, health, education and third sector partners, putting the child’s 

journey at the centre. Any workforce plan must also be fully resourced. 

 

10. We know that children in the most deprived areas are less likely to reach a good level of 

development by age five than those in the least deprived areas. Although many councils 

are targeting resources at the most deprived areas, these resources are limited.  

 

11. Councils’ public health grant has been reduced by over £700 million since 2015. To 

develop ‘excellence’ in the early years, the Government will need to reverse the 

reductions to the public health grant and ensure local authorities have the resources they 

need to commission innovative and effective services. 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



 

 

LGA Children & Young People Board  

8 June 2021 

 

 
12. In order to prevent the attainment and health gap from widening, local authorities and 

partners will need to work closely with an adequately resourced early years sector. It is 

critical that the review works across health and education. Immediate action is needed to 

stabilise the early years sector. The Early Intervention Grant has fallen from £2.8 billion 

in 2010/11 to £1.1 billion in 2018/19 – reinstating the lost £1.7 billion would provide a 

significant boost to early help services and the children and families who need them  

Questions for members 

13. Do members feel the request for local authorities to publish a ‘Start for life’ offer and 

establish ‘parent panels’ to inform commissioning decisions, are reasonable requests 

and can be met within the current set up and budgets of the Healthy Child Programme 

(0-5 services)? 

 

14. In conversations with review officials it has been made clear that there is currently no 

funding committed from HMT to enable councils to take forward these recommendations. 

They have asked whether councils would support a proposal to make ‘Start for Life’ 

support (health and development support for 0-2s and their parents) a mandated service 

in order to secure funding and improve quality of provision. 

 

14.1 With consideration of the decreased flexibility to respond to local priorities and 

additional reporting and scrutiny this would entail, would members support the 

proposal of mandation as a means of ensuring investment in early years health? 

 

15. Do members feel it is a reasonable request for every local authority to have a named 

‘Start for Life’ lead who is responsible for outcomes in the First 1001 Days? We have 

argued for local flexibility in determining who the lead is, for example Director of 

Children’s Services or Director of Public Health.  

 

16. We would welcome any suggestions of good practice in this area which we can explore 

as case studies and put forward to the review team.  

Implications for Wales 

17. The Healthy Development Review applies only to England – health, education and 

children’s services are devolved to the Welsh Assembly. 

Financial Implications 

18. None 

Next steps 

19. Officers to summarise Board’s feedback to provide key messages to lead members 

ahead of meeting with Andrea Leadsom on 15th June. 

 

Page 16

Agenda Item 5



 

 

LGA Children & Young People Board  

8 June 2021 

 

 
20. Officers to set up Start for Life webinar/workshop to gather wider sector views and good 

practice.  

Page 17

Agenda Item 5





Document is Restricted

Page 19

Agenda Item 6





Document is Restricted

Page 25

Agenda Item 6





Document is Restricted

Page 27

Agenda Item 6





 

  

LGA Children & Young People Board  

8 June 2021 

 

18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ    www.local.gov.uk    Telephone 020 7664 3000    Email info@local.gov.uk    Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145  Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 

Children’s Commissioner for England 

 

Purpose of report 

For discussion. 

 

Summary 

Dame Rachel de Souza began her tenure as the Children’s Commissioner for England on 1 

March 2021. She has launched “The Big Ask” to inform a new report on the future of 

childhood in England and the barriers preventing children from achieving their full potential. 

This meeting is an opportunity for Members to discuss with Dame Rachel her priorities for 

the coming years, highlight key issues in their localities and consider the ways in which local 

government can support the Commissioner’s ambitions for children and young people. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact officer:  Louise Smith 

Position:   Senior Adviser – Children and Young People 

Phone no:   07464 652769  

Email:    louise.smith@local.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation 

Members are recommended to discuss the Children’s Commissioner’s priorities and 

highlight particular areas of concern or opportunities for joint working between the LGA 

and the Office of the Children’s Commissioner. 

Action 

Officers to take any actions arising from the discussion. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:louise.smith@local.gov.uk


 

  

LGA Children & Young People Board  

8 June 2021 

 

Children’s Commissioner for England 

 

Background 

1. The Children’s Commissioner for England is a statutory post created following a 

recommendation made by Lord Laming in the Victoria Climbie Inquiry. The post is 

sponsored by the Department for Education but is independent of government and not 

required to execute government policy. 

 

2. The Commissioner’s remit includes understanding what children and young people think 

about things and challenging and making recommendations to decision makers to 

encourage them to take children’s best interests into account. The post has special 

responsibilities for the rights of children who are in or leaving care, living away from 

home or receiving social care services. She also speaks for wider groups of children on 

non-devolved issues including immigration (for the whole of the UK) and youth justice 

(for England and Wales).  

 

3. The post has unique data gathering powers and powers of entry to talk with children in 

order to gain evidence to bring about lasting change and improvements for children, 

particularly the most vulnerable. 

 

4. The new Children’s Commissioner for England, Dame Rachel de Souza, began her six-

year tenure on 1 March 2021. 

 

5. Dame Rachel’s background is in education. She turned around two schools from 

struggling to outstanding before founding and leading the Inspiration Trust, a multi-

academy trust of fourteen schools in East Anglia. The Trust has twice ranked as the 

nation’s top group of comprehensive schools based on pupil progress at GCSE. She was 

made a Dame in 2014 for services to education. 

 

6. Dame Rachel’s appointment was subject to a pre-appointment hearing by the Education 

Select Committee. The committee has published a report on the appointment, including 

details of the appointment process, and a letter to the Secretary of State for Education 

confirming its recommendation for the appointment. 

The Big Ask 

7. Upon taking up her post, Dame Rachel launched “The Big Ask” – the biggest ever 

consultation with children undertaken in England. The survey asked children what makes 

them happy and what worries them, to understand their priorities for improving childhood 

post-Covid. The survey closed on 28 May. 

 

Page 44

Agenda Item 7

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/273183/5730.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5801/cmselect/cmeduc/1030/103002.htm
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/4044/documents/40360/default/


 

  

LGA Children & Young People Board  

8 June 2021 

 
8. The results from ‘The Big Ask’ will be at the heart of the Childhood Commission, a review 

of the future of childhood inspired by the ambition of William Beveridge’s 1940s report, 

which laid the foundations of the post-War social security system. The Childhood 

Commission will identify the barriers preventing children from reaching their full potential, 

propose solutions and come up with targets by which improvements can be monitored. 

 

9. Dame Rachel has indicated her desire to create a joined-up strategy for children, 

reflecting the LGA’s own calls for a cross-Whitehall strategy for children and ambitions 

for a child-centred recovery. 

Implications for Wales 

10. Dame Rachel’s remit is largely limited to England, however she has responsibilities for 

non-devolved issues including immigration and youth justice. 

 

11. Wales has its own Children’s Commissioner, Sally Holland. The Children’s 

Commissioners of the four nations will work together on areas of concern across the UK 

where relevant, for example in their joint report to the United Nations Committee on the 

Rights of the Child in 2020. 

Financial Implications 

12. None. 

Next steps 

13. Board Members are recommended to discuss with Dame Rachel her priorities while in 

post, and highlight key issues for children in their areas. Members are also encouraged 

to share examples or ideas of how local and central government could work better 

together to improve children’s lives. 

 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7

https://schoolsweek.co.uk/dame-rachel-de-souza-childrens-commissioner/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/child-centred-recovery#executive-summary
https://www.childcomwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/UN-report-2020-examination-.pdf



	Agenda
	2 Note of the Previous Meeting on 16th March 2021
	3 Children & Young People Board Priorities
	5 The Early Years Healthy Development Review
	6 Youth Participation & Skills Update
	Appendix A - Addtional Funding  Models May 2021
	Appendix B - LGA Submission - House of Lords Youth Unemployment Committee_

	7 Presentation from the Children's Commissioner

